Facilitating effective health technology assessment for gene therapies



Alliance for Regenerative Medicine

 DOLON
 Support in the development of the report was provided by Dolon

Table of contents

Facilitating effective health technology assessment for gene therapies					
Introduction					
Enhancing gene therapy evidence	5				
Natural history studies can address clinical evidence challenges	5				
Patient-reported outcomes can bolster evidence generation	7				
Global registries can enhance gene therapy evidence	8				
Manufacturers can highlight the steps they are taking to address uncertainties	9				
Ensuring HTA methodologies can accurately assess gene therapies based on their holistic value to patients, health systems, and society					
Flexibility and adaptations within HTA frameworks could help better recognize the value of gene therapies 1	10				
Every opportunity to ensure effective HTA for gene therapies requires active patient involvement					
References	14				

Contributors

Lauren Diamond, Jennifer Young, Nitin Mahadev and Safiyya Gassman – *Pfizer*, Paolo Morgese - *Alliance for Regenerative Medicine (ARM)*; Amanda Whittal and Elisa Garau - *Dolon* contributed to the development of this report.

We would like to thank all experts for their valuable contributions during the roundtables.

The report was commissioned and funded by Pfizer

	3	

Introduction

As of the first half of 2024, a total of 30 gene therapies, including genetically modified cell therapies, have been approved globally, with an average of five approvals per year in the past three years alone¹. Even more gene therapies are anticipated in the coming years: there are approximately 627 ongoing clinical trials across oncology and non-oncology therapeutic areas, of which 168 are in phase two or three².

Gene therapies have the potential to offer value to patients and their families/care givers through long-term transformative health benefits. However, standard value assessment methods that are often designed for more conventional medicines can face a variety of challenges in accurately capturing these benefits and managing uncertainty. In order to support effective health technology assessment (HTA) for gene therapies, it is crucial to ensure HTA processes can adequately assess the specific characteristics of such novel treatments and promote patient access to those that offer promising outcomes.

There are three broad areas that cause challenges for the assessment of gene therapies within current HTA systems:

- Evidential uncertainty: gene therapies currently target rare conditions and thus face the same assessment challenges as other rare disease medicines, such as small patient populations, single-arm trials, disease heterogeneity and difficulties in identifying appropriate endpoints³. Additionally, the potentially long-term impacts of gene therapy cannot be captured within clinical trial followup periods, leading to uncertainty around long-term clinical outcomes⁴.
- 2. Limitations of standard cost-effectiveness methods: existing cost-effectiveness methodogies designed for conventional therapies in common conditions may be inadequate for capturing the potential long-

term value of gene therapies for various reasons, including:

- The expected cost of gene therapies is likely to exceed cost-effectiveness thresholds due to relatively high incremental costs⁵ and the fact that budget impact analyses tend to be limited to one to three years, which may not reflect their potential long-term benefits^{6,7}
- Rarity of the disease is not always accounted for^{8,9}
- Cost calculations often include lifetime healthcare costs that patients would not have incurred without life-extending therapies¹⁰, making gene therapy treatment seem less cost-effective than is true in reality.

Moreover, globally, there is no agreed standard methodology for cost-effectiveness assessment, which results in inconsistent decision-making which can impact access to gene therapies around the world¹¹.

3. Difficulties incorporating additional elements of value: although the holistic value of gene therapies spans beyond clinical value, most HTA frameworks do not capture more comprehensive social and economic benefits, such as how the long-term potential of gene therapies can positively impact patient and caregiver quality of life, as well as their ability to return to work⁶.

In this context, roundtable participants discussed areas of focus, along with opportunities and best practices, within two key domains related to facilitating effective HTA for gene therapies:

- Enhancing gene therapy evidence
- Ensuring HTA methodologies can accurately assess gene therapies based on their holistic value to patients, health systems, and society

Enhancing gene therapy evidence

Gene therapies present challenges in generating robust clinical data due to 1) the characteristics of the rare diseases they often target, and 2) the specificities of the treatments themselves.

In terms of rare disease characteristics, several aspects are relevant. Firstly, the limited number of patients affected by rare, genetic conditions translates into small sample sizes for clinical trials, creating a significant hurdle in generating sufficient clinical evidence^{12,13}. Secondly, rare disease treatments are often assessed through single-arm trials instead of gold-standard randomized controlled trials (RCTs)14. This trial design can be unavoidable, as there is often no treatment comparator available for rare diseases. Moreover, it is considered unethical to withhold treatment from patients suffering from conditions with high unmet medical need and a small window of opportunity to receive a gene therapy treatment by placing them in a control or placebo trial arm. While Indirect Treatment Comparison (ITC) can be an alternative in case of lack of comparative data, its acceptance by HTA bodies remains limited or inconsistent¹⁵. Finally, rare diseases

are inherently heterogeneous, resulting in varied responses to treatment depending on patient characteristics¹⁶. This reduces the generalizability and transferability of effectiveness estimates and complicates evidence interpretation¹⁷.

In terms of **gene therapy characteristics**, the high upfront cost and long-term treatment effects from a single administration result in very specific challenges. In this case, the standard clinical trial follow-up period cannot capture the potentially long-term treatment effect, creating uncertainty regarding long-term health outcomes and cost-effectiveness^{18,19,20}.

The characteristics of gene therapies and the rare conditions they treat thus create uncertainties that pose difficulties for current HTA systems, which are more tailored for assessing treatments for chronic diseases, for example. Roundtable participants, therefore, noted the need to enhance gene therapy evidence to facilitate effective assessments and patient access. To achieve this, they highlighted several promising opportunities, drawing on examples from established best practices.

Natural history studies can address clinical evidence challenges

A natural history study is a preplanned observational study that aims to track disease progression²¹. This type of study helps to identify factors, including genetics or treatments, associated with disease development or outcomes²¹. Therefore, natural history studies are crucial for understanding disease etiology, pathophysiology, and health outcomes achieved with standard-of-care treatments²¹. These studies have several practical applications:

- They can be helpful when developing and validating trial endpoints, including surrogate endpoints, especially for rare diseases with a lack of well-validated outcome measures^{22.}
- Pooling data from natural history studies (e.g., rate, patterns of and time to progression, levels of specific biomarkers, etc.) can help provide a better understanding of a disease and treatment effects, and reduce

evidential uncertainty²³. As highlighted in the roundtable, if there are high levels of disease heterogeneity, this type of study can help identify comparators for different disease groups based on specific disease progression and clinical manifestations.

 The data can help populate health economic models used in HTA submissions and serve as a historical control or indirect external comparator in single-arm studies^{24,25}.

Real-world data (RWD) can serve as a source for natural history studies, especially when RCTs may not be feasible²³. For example, a review of 433 single-arm trials based on HTA submissions in 21 countries highlighted that the acceptance rate of single-arm trials increased from 48% to 59% with the inclusion of an external control based on RWD²⁶. In line with these findings, an IQVIA analysis of 16,515 HTA reports from 83 HTA bodies across 33 countries reveals that the inclusion of Real-World Evidence (RWE), generated using RWD, in submissions has significantly increased, rising from 6% in 2011 to 39% in 2021²⁷.

Still, there are varying degrees of RWD acceptance and use in HTA. A review of external controls in HTA submissions in France, Germany and the United Kingdom (UK) between 2015 and 2021 highlighted that HTA in the UK more often considered RWD in their decisions, compared to France and Germany²⁸.

At the European Union (EU) level, advanced therapy medicinal products (ATMPs), including gene therapies, will undergo a new EU-wide Joint Clinical Assessment (JCA) as of 2025²⁹. This assessment aims to harmonize clinical data requirements and remove the need for multiple

HTAs at the country level. The JCA may also provide the opportunity to utilize RWD more consistently and address difficulties in generating evidence for ATMPs. Recent initiatives taking place ahead of the JCA implementation seem to highlight this possibility. A multistakeholder workshop organized by the HTA Secretariat and stakeholders involved in the JCA process, such as patient associations, health professionals and other experts, emphasized the importance of a sound approach to evidence (e.g., single-arm trials, registry data and RWD) and the need to identify best practices³⁰.

Best practices could inform more consistent use of RWD and natural history studies to support gene therapy evidence generation. Several existing examples can pave the way for future products.

Best practices



The Duchenne Natural History Study (DNHS), driven by the Cooperative International Neuromuscular Research Group (CINRG), is the largest prospective natural history study for Duchene Muscular Dystrophy (DMD) to date. It recruited 440 patients from 20 centers in nine different countries and followed up with them for up to 10 years³¹. This study was used as an indirect comparison in the HTA submission of Translarna in the UK. Based on the comparison, the National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) stated that uncertainty remained, but acknowledged that the drug could slow disease progression³².



In the UK HTA of a therapy for a rare form of non-Hodgkin lymphoma (NHL), comparator data came from a European chart review – a retrospective observational study collecting natural history data over 10 years. The manufacturer created a matched cohort by selecting a subset of patients in the European chart review with characteristics similar to those of the patients in their trial^{33,34}. Although the therapy exceeded the cost-effectiveness threshold and was not reimbursed, the HTA assessors accepted the comparator data. They noted that while there was still uncertainty around clinical effectiveness, the treatment appeared to be more effective than existing therapeutic options based on the indirect comparison combined with expert and patient opinion.

While improving RWD collection is essential for evaluating gene therapies, this alone may not fully address the challenge of differing approaches among HTA bodies. Each body evaluates new treatments based on distinct criteria, which can create assessment inconsistencies. This highlights the need to strengthen evidence generation to meet the requirements of HTA bodies and align these efforts with mechanisms that ensure timely patient access to innovative medicines.

Patient-reported outcomes can bolster evidence generation

When there is evidential uncertainty, clinical endpoints can be supplemented by patientreported outcomes (PROs), a report of a patient's health condition derived directly from the patient³⁵. PROs enable patients to convey their experience during and after treatment. They provide insights into treatment effects that may not be captured by clinical endpoints but can help inform HTA decisions. PROs can capture, for example, any toxicities experienced and the overall impact on health-related quality of life (HRQoL) or symptoms³⁶. Beyond physical elements, PROs can also capture shifts in mindset, an aspect particularly relevant for gene therapy³⁶. Indeed, the potential long-term benefit of these products can alleviate the psychological burden and reduce constant preoccupation with the disease³⁶. Therefore, incorporating routine PRO collection in registries can provide additional data to assess the benefit and risk profiles of gene therapies at follow-up intervals that would not be feasible in a clinical setting³⁷.

Best practices

The World Federation of Hemophilia (WFH) gene therapy registry is a prospective and observational registry documenting the outcomes of hemophilia patients treated with gene therapy. The core data set includes information on demographics, clinical history, infusion details, safety, efficacy and PROs. PROs are collected through a patient mobile application in which patients are asked to answer a short series of questions every six months, and to complete various questionnaires on a regular basis³⁸:

- The Patient-Reported Outcomes Burdens and Experiences (PROBE) multinational questionnaire aims to collect insights about the impact of hemophilia on daily life through questions on lifestyle, quality of life (QoL) and health concerns³⁹.
- The coreHEM Mental Health Outlook questionnaire (coreHEM-MHO) is a tool specifically developed to evaluate the mental health of individuals receiving gene therapy or other durable hemophilia treatments⁴⁰.

Hunter Outcome Survey

The Hunter Outcomes Survey (HOS) is a registry that collects a variety of data, including PROs, through the Hunter Syndrome-Functional Outcomes for Clinical Understanding Scale (HS-FOCUS)⁴⁰. The HS-FOCUS includes questions on the patient's daily life, well-being, satisfaction with treatment, hospitalizations and QoL⁴¹.

PROs are used in various ways within the HTA process to inform decision-making⁴². For example, an analysis of HTA reports from Belgium, England, France, Germany, Italy, Netherlands, Norway, Scotland, Sweden, and the USA for two gene therapies, approved by the Food and Drug Administration (FDA) in 2017 and 2019 respectively, highlighted the various ways PROs from patients and carers are taken into account⁴².

Despite their relevance, assessing and validating PRO measures that can both accurately capture disease-specific characteristics and be acceptable for HTA bodies is often difficult⁴³. It is, therefore, essential to improve the development and use of PRO measures to ensure they can be routinely collected to effectively aid decision-making.



The Cystic Fibrosis Questionnaire-Revised (CFQ-R) is a validated PRO used to measure HRQoL in cystic fibrosis⁴⁴. The advantage of this PRO is the ability to effectively capture changes in lung function and HRQoL compared to generic instruments⁴⁴. Improvements in HRQoL resulting from this PRO have contributed to the positive HTA outcome and subsequent inclusion of an orphan drug in Italy's list of innovative drugs^{45,46}.

Global registries can enhance gene therapy evidence

Global registries can enhance gene therapy evidence in several ways. First, they enable the pooling of data across diverse geographies, which helps to overcome the lack of natural history data available for and low frequency/numbers of patients with a particular rare disease. They also allow RWD collection and monitoring of longterm safety and treatment outcomes of gene therapy. This can address the uncertainty around long-term impact and inform HTA decisions. Furthermore, global data collection efforts can promote international collaboration and facilitate the sharing of best practices and expertise at a broader scale.

Developing global registries does, however, require long-term investment in data collection infrastructure and a clear framework to ensure the generation of agreed and consistent robust data. This commitment can be facilitated by strong collaboration amongst stakeholders, including patient organizations, scientific societies and industry, as illustrated by the examples below.

Best practices

SMARTCARE

SMArtCARE is a prospective, multinational registry supported by industry but managed by the SMArtCARE network of clinicians and patient organizations that gathers longitudinal data from existing spinal muscular atrophy (SMA) registries⁴⁷. In 2023, the registry provided a manufacturer with aggregated, anonymized data on children with SMA type two treated with their product. This data was included in the HTA assessment for expanding reimbursement in Italy⁴⁸.

TREAT-NMD

The TREAT-NMD Global Registry Network brings together 64 independent neuromuscular disorders (NMD) registry members, who together collect data on a total of ~80,000 patients. The collaboration increases the scale of the data collection, promotes the sharing of learnings across registries and creates efficiencies where possible (e.g., through centralized contracting)⁴⁹.

At the same time, some countries are also moving toward localized data collection. For example, under the German Law for More Safety in the Supply of Medicines (GSAV), the Federal Joint Committee (G-BA) can require pharmaceutical companies to collect real-world data for certain drugs, including orphan medicines and gene therapies⁵⁰. In this case, the product is immediately available for patients and the collected data informs benefit re-assessment⁵¹. As of now, data

collection has begun for gene therapies targeting hemophilia and spinal muscular atrophy⁵².

Although local efforts are promising, there is an opportunity to better align them with global and regional data collection initiatives. Without this coordination, there is a risk of duplication, inefficiencies, and fragmented data that could ultimately hinder broader patient access.

Manufacturers can highlight the steps they are taking to address uncertainties

At the time of HTA submission, there is often a high degree of uncertainty related to trial design and trial duration, which cannot fully capture the long-term impact of gene therapies. This was captured in a recent analysis of 46 HTA reports for nine cell and gene therapy products in Canada, France, Germany, Italy and the UK, in which uncertainty was considered relevant in 87% of the reports⁴.

Another study investigating gene therapy HTA reports from the Netherlands, UK, and Scotland indicated that HTA bodies show greater acceptance of these uncertainties if manufacturers show that they are taking concrete steps to address them⁵³. This communication instills confidence that although uncertainty exists, there is a proactive and committed approach to managing it. Furthermore, it demonstrates transparency and accountability by providing a clear picture of the ongoing efforts to enhance gene therapy evidence.

Some HTA bodies have published guidance on their expectations for real-world evidence (RWE) collection and use, which manufacturers can utilize to outline their plans for managing gene therapy uncertainties.

Best practices



NICE's RWE framework offers comprehensive guidance on generating and utilizing RWE. The framework details NICE's expectations for planning, executing, and reporting RWE studies. The framework also provides recommendations for implementing non-randomized studies, such as observational studies or clinical trials utilizing RWE, to establish an external control⁵⁴.



In Canada, the Canadian Agency for Drugs and Technologies in Health (CADTH) guidance for reporting RWE provides information on what regulatory bodies and HTA agencies should expect when evaluating studies incorporating this type of evidence⁵⁵. The guidance also provides specific recommendations on high-quality RWE studies and clear and transparent reporting, covering aspects like study design, data collection methods, and appropriate statistical analysis⁵⁵. A recommendations checklist serves as a tool to ensure that submissions adhere to the guidelines outlined in the document⁵⁵.

Nevertheless, manufacturers' proactivity in addressing evidence gaps may not fully address the broader issue that HTA bodies often assign a low value to innovative therapies due to evidential uncertainty, for example, the lack of long-term efficacy data. Without this data, HTA frameworks struggle to assess long-term benefits, potentially delaying or denying patient access. Clear communication and proactive steps from manufacturers help, but the friction caused by uncertainty remains a significant barrier in the HTA process that needs to be addressed.

Ensuring HTA methodologies can accurately assess gene therapies based on their holistic value to patients, health systems, and society

The specific characteristics of gene therapies and the rare diseases they currently treat create challenges within conventional HTA standards. There are several reasons for this, including:

- Their high value may exceed that of many other interventions (e.g., considering the severity of the diseases they often treat or the potential step change in length and quality of life they may offer⁴)
- The possible long-term effects of gene therapies and the inability of short-term trials to provide sufficient certainty around these effects^{6,7}
- As novel 'disruptive technologies,' they require an assessment framework that can more accurately capture broader elements of value.

Regarding the latter aspect, broader elements of value are important to consider for a comprehensive assessment⁶, but current HTA and pricing and reimbursement processes focus predominantly on clinical and cost-effectiveness. This focus can overlook other elements of value, such as disease severity and the impact of treatment on family/caregivers or society ⁵⁶. While disease-related value elements are accounted for by some HTA bodies in their evaluations (e.g., disease severity, unmet need) broader elements such as the value of long-term benefits or societal impacts

are rarely considered^{4,57}. For example, in the UK, NICE incorporates a disease-severity modifier in decision-making, which allows consideration of the severity of the disease and the extent of unmet medical need when calculating Quality-Adjusted Life Years (QALYs)⁵⁸. On the other hand, in an analysis of 46 HTA reports for ninecell and gene therapy products in Canada, France, Germany, Italy and the UK, value to caregivers was considered in only 30% of the reports, while severity was considered in 76%⁴.

The wider implementation of broader value elements in HTA frameworks can be challenging due to the variability in how different HTA bodies assess and capture them, and the lack of alignment on how they can be consistently applied across different treatments⁵⁹. This variability makes it difficult for a single clinical study to deliver all variables that would be required to meet the needs of multiple HTA bodies.

The necessity for a broader notion of value for gene therapies and the uncertainty around their long-term impact point to a need to ensure existing assessment systems are revised as necessary to ensure they are fit for purpose for novel therapies.

Based on these considerations, a promising opportunity to improve gene therapy HTA were discussed, drawing on examples from established best practices.

Flexibility and adaptations within HTA frameworks could help better recognize the value of gene therapies

Current assessment frameworks were primarily developed for more prevalent diseases and may not accurately capture the full value of gene therapies⁶⁰. There is thus an opportunity to make adjustments within existing HTA systems to better capture the specific characteristics of gene therapies.

Several countries have made efforts to create *flexibility* in assessment frameworks for the

treatment of rare and severe diseases with high unmet need. In the UK, for instance, a costeffectiveness threshold of £100,000 per QALY for ultra-rare diseases is applied vs the standard £20-30,000⁶¹. In Italy, drugs can be classified as "innovative" based on therapeutic need, added therapeutic value, and quality of evidence, granting them dedicated funds and immediate market access⁶². At the European level, the JCA for ATMPs, including gene therapies, will start in 2025²⁹. While concerns remain around the application of the JCA in practice and how the evidence will be evaluated compared to standard treatments for wider populations, there is an opportunity to ensure streamlined processes are tailored appropriately for gene and cell therapies.

Given the novel and potentially transformative quality of gene therapies, significant discussion has focused on the need to ensure HTA frameworks are appropriately calibrated to recognize their unique characteristics. Some countries have made strides towards this.

Best practices



Since January 2020, Canada has implemented a distinct assessment process for gene and cell therapies⁶³. This includes elements from both the evaluation process for medicines and medical devices, such as ethical and implementation considerations⁶³. This review process was implemented based on learnings from assessing the first two chimeric antigen receptor (CAR) T-cell therapies⁶⁴.



In 2023, the Haute Autorité de santé (HAS) in France published a new HTA methodology reflecting greater acceptance of uncertainty for promising therapies^{29,65,66}. HAS outlines key considerations for manufacturers submitting dossiers based on uncontrolled trials and is open to high-quality indirect comparison data or data from control groups. However, the use of this data must be justified in advance, including the rationale for the lack of randomization.

In addition to creating flexibility within current HTA frameworks, adaptations to include additional elements of value would allow for a more comprehensive assessment of the impact of gene therapies. The inclusion of such elements of value can:

- Provide insights into the therapy's broader societal impact (e.g., effect on patients and caregivers), thus reflecting its full value.
- Consider the therapy's wider economic impact beyond direct healthcare costs to more accurately evaluate it in economic models.

Currently, willingness to accept additional value elements differs across HTA bodies. An analysis of five drugs assessed by 15 HTA bodies highlighted the importance of including these broader value elements – adding caregiver's HRQoL, for instance, increased QALYs in 19 out of 23 analyses⁶⁷. At the same time, inconsistency is generally found in the inclusion of additional value elements⁴, leaving an opportunity for adaptation to HTA processes that do not yet include them.

Some HTA bodies have included or are considering the inclusion of additional elements of value in the evaluation of cell and gene therapies, as outlined below.

Best practices



In the Netherlands, the HTA of a gene therapy included carer HRQoL in a scenario analysis⁶⁸. In January 2024, new guidelines for conducting economic evaluations in healthcare were published⁶⁹. According to the guidelines, costs incurred by patients and their families, such as those associated with informal care should be included in the economic evaluations. Additionally, when relevant to the intervention, the quality of life of informal caregivers should also be considered and incorporated into a scenario analysis.



The Dental and Pharmaceutical Benefits Agency (TLV, Sweden) acknowledged there are reasons to consider HRQoL for caregivers, particularly in cases where the disease significantly impacts their lives and a gene or cell therapy can improve their QoL. At the same time, TLV acknowledged that including caregiver HRQoL may lead to uncertainty and should be carefully managed. For this reason, TLV is still working to refine when and how such elements of value should be included^{6,70}.



The Valuation of Lost Productivity (VOLP) questionnaire was used to measure work productivity loss and costs, including absenteeism and presenteeism in Canadian patients with multiple sclerosis (MS)⁷¹. Furthermore, the questionnaire was implemented to measure productivity loss, caregiver burden and other costs in the evaluation of whole exome sequencing (WES) in children with suspected genetic disorders⁷⁰.

Every opportunity to ensure effective HTA for gene therapies requires active patient involvement

The opportunities that emerged from the roundtable discussions highlight that there can be a sustainable future for gene therapies with collaborative efforts. However, it is critical to note that all of the efforts and the opportunities discussed require patient involvement.

When it comes to data collection, it is crucial to include patients / caregivers / patient organizations early and throughout to ensure design and outcome measures are appropriate and fit for purpose. There is an opportunity for patients to be substantially involved; an analysis of 37 registries worldwide revealed that although 57% included PROs, only 38% involved patients in the registry design⁷². Early patient involvement can promote

a commitment to data generation, ensure patient data belongs to the patient and facilitate the collection of extensive and relevant data⁷³.

Patient involvement can also ensure that endpoints are meaningful to the patient and data collection is not an excessive burden, which is essential for effective data collection. For example, in the case of the Expanding Communications on Hemophilia A (ECHO) registry, data collection was planned for five years, but the registry was closed after just two years⁷⁴. This was attributed to several challenges, including the burden for patients and investigators of multiple PRO measures and insufficient patient engagement. Greater patient engagement can also improve access to innovative treatments by generating evidence that supports manufacturers' HTA submissions. For example, Project HERCULES (HEalth Research Collaboration United in Leading Evidence Synthesis) is a multinational project established by Duchenne UK to develop tools and evidence that can support the HTA of new DMD medicines. The project involves patient organizations, clinicians, pharmaceutical companies and HTA bodies⁷⁴. It has led to the development of several types of evidence, including a natural history model, a DMD-specific HRQoL measure, and an economic model that pharmaceutical companies can apply for new treatments⁷⁵.

The gap between conventional HTA and gene therapy-ready assessment processes is slowly closing in some countries. Continuing this trend can enable more accurate assessments of gene therapy benefits and uncertainties, and support the uptake of promising gene therapies for rare diseases and beyond.

References

- 1. American Society of gene and cell therapy. (2024). Gene, Cell and RNA Therapy Landscape Report Q4-2023 Quarterly Data Report.
- 2. Alliance for Regenerative Medicine. (2024). Clinical Trial Data. Available at: https://alliancerm.org/wp-content/uploads/2024/08/Trials_Final_Q2_24.pdf
- Nicod E, Annemans L, Bucsics A, Lee A, Upadhyaya S, Facey K. HTA programme response to the challenges of dealing with orphan medicinal products: process evaluation in selected European countries. Health Policy. 2019 Feb 1;123(2):140-51.
- 4. Drummond, M., Ciani, O., Fornaro, G., Jommi, C., Dietrich, E. S., Espin, J., Mossman, J., & de Pouvourville, G. (2023). How are health technology assessment bodies responding to the assessment challenges posed by cell and gene therapy?. BMC health services research, 23(1), 484.
- Garrison LP, Jackson T, Paul D, Kenston M. Value-based pricing for emerging gene therapies: the economic case for a higher cost-effectiveness threshold. Journal of managed care & specialty pharmacy. 2019 Jul;25(7):793-9.
- Besley, S., Henderson, N., Towse, A. & Cole, A. (2022) Health Technology Assessment of Gene Therapies: Are Our Methods Fit for Purpose?. OHE Contract Research. Available at: https://www.ohe.org/publications/health-technology-assessment-gene-therapies-are-our-methods-fit-purpose/
- 7. EFPIA. 2022. Shifting the paradigm for ATMPs: Adapting reimbursement and value frameworks to improve patient access in Europe
- Nicod E, Whittal A, Drummond M, Facey K. Are supplemental appraisal/reimbursement processes needed for rare disease treatments? An international comparison of country approaches. Orphanet journal of rare diseases. 2020 Dec;15:1-4.
- Whittal A, Nicod E, Drummond M, Facey K. Examining the impact of different country processes for appraising rare disease treatments: a case study analysis. International journal of technology assessment in health care. 2021 Jan;37(1):e65.
- 10. de Vries LM, van Baal PH, Brouwer WB. Future costs in cost-effectiveness analyses: past, present, future. Pharmacoeconomics. 2019 Feb 13;37:119-30.
- 11. Pochopień, M., Paterak, E., Clay, E., Janik, J., Aballea, S., Biernikiewicz, M., & Toumi, M. (2021). An overview of health technology assessments of gene therapies with the focus on cost-effectiveness models. Journal of Market Access & Health Policy, 9(1), 2002006.
- 12. Djordjevic, D., McFadyen, A., & Anderson, J. A. (2023). Ethical challenges and opportunities in the development and approval of novel therapeutics for rare diseases. The journal of medicine access, 7, 27550834231177507.
- 13. Hercher, L. and Prince, A. (2018). Gene Therapy's Field of Dreams: If You Build It, Will We Pay Legal, Ethical, and Policy Implications of New Gene-Editing Technologies. North Carolina Law Review, 97(5).
- Coyle, D., Durand-Zaleski, I., Farrington, J., Garrison, L., Graf von der Schulenburg, J.-M., Greiner, W., Longworth, L., Meunier, A., Moutié, A.-S., Palmer, S., Pemberton-Whiteley, Z., Ratcliffe, M., Shen, J., Sproule, D., Zhao, K., Shah, K. (2020). HTA methodology and value frameworks for evaluation and policy making for cell and gene therapies. The European Journal of Health Economics, 21(9), pp.1421–1437. 10.1007/s10198-020-01212-w.
- Macabeo B, Quenéchdu A, Aballéa S, François C, Boyer L, Laramée P. Methods for Indirect Treatment Comparison: Results from a Systematic Literature Review. Journal of Market Access & Health Policy. 2024 Apr 16;12(2):58-80.
- Adachi, T., El-Hattab, A. W., Jain, R., Nogales Crespo, K. A., Quirland Lazo, C. I., Scarpa, M., Summar, M., & Wattanasirichaigoon, D. (2023). Enhancing Equitable Access to Rare Disease Diagnosis and Treatment around the World: A Review of Evidence, Policies, and Challenges. International journal of environmental research and public health, 20(6), 4732.
- 17. van Overbeeke, E., Michelsen, S., Toumi, M., Stevens, H., Trusheim, M., Huys, I., Simoens, S. (2021). Market access of gene therapies across Europe, USA, and Canada: challenges, trends, and solutions. Drug Discovery Today, 26(2), pp.399–415. 10.1016/j.drudis.2020.11.024.
- Salzman, R., Cook, F., Hunt, T., Malech, H. L., Reilly, P., Foss-Campbell, B., & Barrett, D. (2018). Addressing the Value of Gene Therapy and Enhancing Patient Access to Transformative Treatments. Molecular therapy : the journal of the American Society of Gene Therapy, 26(12), 2717–2726.
- Garrison, L. P., Jr, Jiao, B., & Dabbous, O. (2021). Gene therapy may not be as expensive as people think: challenges in assessing the value of single and short-term therapies. Journal of managed care & specialty pharmacy, 27(5), 674–681.
- Aballéa, S., Thokagevistk, K., Velikanova, R., Simoens, S., Annemans, L., Antonanzas, F., Auquier, P., François, C., Fricke, F.-U., Malone, D., Millier, A., Persson, U., Petrou, S., Dabbous, O., Postma, M., Toumi, M. (2020). Health economic evaluation of gene replacement therapies: methodological issues and recommendations. Journal of Market Access & Health Policy, 8(1), p.1822666.
- 21. FDA. 2020. Rare Diseases: Natural History Studies for Drug Development Guidance for Industry. [Online] Available at: https://www.fda.gov/media/122425/ download
- 22. Bratton, E., Holt, C., Kromrey, S., Keefer, J. (2023). Natural History Studies for Rare Diseases: Development Strategies for External Comparator Arms Leveraging Real World Insights. IQVIA.
- Liu, J., Barrett, J. S., Leonardi, E. T., Lee, L., Roychoudhury, S., Chen, Y., & Trifillis, P. (2022). Natural History and Real-World Data in Rare Diseases: Applications, Limitations, and Future Perspectives. Journal of clinical pharmacology, 62 Suppl 2(Suppl 2), S38–S55.
- 24. Hagen, G., Wisloff, T. (2021). Registry data for use in health technology assessments in Norway: Opportunities and challenges. Norsk Epidemiologi; 29 (1-2): 19-27.
- 25. IQVIA. (2021). Modernizing the Natural History of Disease Research: IQVIA Perspectives from Human Data Science Lab.
- Patel, D., Grimson, F., Mihaylova, E., Wagner, P., Warren, J., van Engen, A., & Kim, J. (2021). Use of External Comparators for Health Technology Assessment Submissions Based on Single-Arm Trials. Value in health : the journal of the International Society for Pharmacoeconomics and Outcomes Research, 24(8), 1118–1125.
- 27. IQVIA (2022). Impact of RWE on HTA Decision-making [Online] Available at: https://www.iqvia.com/insights/the-iqvia-institute/reports-and-publications/reports/ impact-of-rwe-on-hta-decision-making
- Sola-Morales, O., Curtis, L. H., Heidt, J., Walsh, L., Casso, D., Oliveria, S., Saunders-Hastings, P., Song, Y., Mercado, T., Zusterzeel, R., Mastey, V., Harnett, J., & Quek, R. G. W. (2023). Effectively Leveraging RWD for External Controls: A Systematic Literature Review of Regulatory and HTA Decisions. Clinical pharmacology and therapeutics, 114(2), 325–355.
- ARM. Position paper: Ensuring Joint Clinical Assessments et EU level are fit-for-purpose for Advanced Therapy Medicinal Products. Available at: https:// alliancerm.org/wp-content/uploads/2023/06/20230608-V5_HTA-Advocacy.pdf
- 30. HTA Stakeholder Network. Meeting summary Online workshop on Health Technology Assessment for oncology products and Advanced Therapy Medicinal Products (ATMPs) Challenges and solutions. 23rd October 2023
- McDonald, C. M., Henricson, E. K., Abresch, R. T., Duong, T., Joyce, N. C., Hu, F., Clemens, P. R., Hoffman, E. P., Cnaan, A., Gordish-Dressman, H., & CINRG Investigators (2018). Long-term effects of glucocorticoids on function, quality of life, and survival in patients with Duchenne muscular dystrophy: a prospective cohort study. Lancet (London, England), 391(10119), 451–461.
- NICE. (2023). Ataluren for treating Duchenne muscular dystrophy with a nonsense mutation in the dystrophin gene. Available at: https://www.nice.org.uk/ guidance/hst22/resources/ataluren-for-treating-duchenne-muscular-dystrophy-with-a-nonsense-mutation-in-the-dystrophin-gene-pdf-50216315955397
- NICE. (2022). Ibrutinib for treating Waldenstrom's macroglobulinaemia. Available at: https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ta795/resources/ibrutinib-for-treatingwaldenstroms-macroglobulinaemia-pdf-82611618981829
- 34. Appiah, K., Rizzo, M., Sarri, G., & Hernandez, L. (2024). Justifying the source of external comparators in single-arm oncology health technology submissions: a review of NICE and PBAC assessments. Journal of comparative effectiveness research, 13(2), e230140.
- Whittal, A., Meregaglia, M., Nicod, E. (2021). The use of patient-reported outcome measures in rare diseases and implications for health technology assessment. The Patient-Patient-Centered Outcomes Research. Sep;14:485-503.
- Krumb, E., & Hermans, C. (2021). Living with a "hemophilia free mind"–The new ambition of hemophilia care?. Research and practice in thrombosis and haemostasis, 5(5), e12567.

- Lasiter, L., Campbell, A., Basch, E., Hudgens, S., Stewart, M., Wu, J. J., Leahy, A. B., & Allen, J. (2020). Use of Patient-Reported Outcomes to Understand & Measure the Patient Experience of Novel Cell and Gene Therapies. Therapeutic innovation & regulatory science, 54(6), 1566–1575.
- Coffin, D., Naccache, M., Konkle, B., Pierce, G. (2022). Protocol Synopsis: World Federation of Hemophilia Gene Therapy Registry. WFH. Available at: https:// wfh.org/wp-content/uploads/2022/02/WFH-GTR-protocol-synopsis.pdf
- 39. Canadian Hemophilia Society. PROBE. [Online] Available at: https://www.hemophilia.ca/probe/. Accessed in March 2024
- 40. NBDF. CoreHEM Mental Health Tool: A Patient-reported tool assessing mental health post-gene therapy or durable hemophilia treatment. [Online] Available at: https://www.hemophilia.org/research/research-projects/corehem-mental-health-tool/. Accessed in March 2024
- 41. Muenzer, J., Jones, S. A., Tylki-Szymańska, A., Harmatz, P., Mendelsohn, N. J., Guffon, N., Giugliani, R., Burton, B. K., Scarpa, M., Beck, M., Jangelind, Y., Hernberg-Stahl, E., Larsen, M. P., Pulles, T., & Whiteman, D. A. H. (2017). Ten years of the Hunter Outcome Survey (HOS): insights, achievements, and lessons learned from a global patient registry. Orphanet journal of rare diseases, 12(1), 82.
- 42. Whittal, A., Nicod, E., Drummond, M., & Facey, K. (2021). Examining the impact of different country processes for appraising rare disease treatments: a case study analysis. International journal of technology assessment in health care, 37(1), e65.
- 43. Knoble, N., Nayroles, G., Cheng, C., Arnould, B. (2018). Illustration of patient-reported outcome challenges and solutions in rare diseases: a systematic review in Cushing's syndrome. Orphanet J Rare Dis 13, 228.
- 44. Acaster S, Mukuria C, Rowen D, Brazier JE, Wainwright CE, Quon BS, Duckers J, Quittner AL, Lou Y, Sosnay PR, McGarry LJ. Development of the cystic fibrosis questionnaire-Revised-8 dimensions: estimating utilities from the cystic fibrosis questionnaire-revised. Value in Health. 2023 Apr 1;26(4):567-78.
- 45. Malandrini F, Borroni C, Meregaglia M, Sarra M, Ciani O. Il ruolo degli esiti riferiti dal paziente nelle decisioni di rimborso e innovatività dei farmaci in Italia. Global & Regional Health Technology Assessment. 2023 Jan;10:12.
- 46. AIFA. VALUTAZIONE DELL'INNOVATIVITA': Medicinale: Kaftrio (ivacaftor/tezacaftor/elexacaftor) + Kalydeco® (ivacaftor). Available at : https://www.aifa.gov.it/ documents/20142/1540069/126_KAFTRIO_KALYDECO_genotipo_F_F_scheda_innovativita_GRADE.pdf
- Pechmann, A., König, K., Bernert, G., Schachtrup, K., Schara, U., Schorling, D., Schwersenz, I., Stein, S., Tassoni, A., Vogt, S., Walter, M. C., Lochmüller, H., & Kirschner, J. (2019). SMArtCARE - A platform to collect real-life outcome data of patients with spinal muscular atrophy. Orphanet journal of rare diseases, 14(1), 18.
- 48. SMArtCARE. Sponsors and cooperation projects. [Online] Available at: https://www.uniklinik-freiburg.de/smartcare-en/projects-and-data-use/cooperation-projectswith-industry-and-authorities.html. Accessed in March 2024
- 49. Treat-NMD. The Global Registry Network. [Online] Available at: https://www.treat-nmd.org/what-we-do/global-registry-network/#1695126130138-f18bfca6-9355. Accessed in March 2024
- IQWIG (2022). Routine practice data collection according to German law when several drugs of the same drug class enter the market: IQWiG presents concept. [Online] Available at: https://www.iqwig.de/en/presse/press-releases/press-releases-detailpage 70465.html
- 51. G-BA (n.a.). Data collection during use of new medicinal products [Online] Available at: https://www.g-ba.de/themen/arzneimittel/arzneimittel-richtlinie-anlagen/ anwendungsbegleitende-datenerhebung/
- 52. G-BA (2024). New medicinal products: studies as part of the post-marketing data collection [Online] Available at: https://www.g-ba.de/studien/abd/
- 53. Ten Ham, R. M. T., Frederix, G. W. J., Wu, O., Goettsch, W., Leufkens, H. G. M., Klungel, O. H., & Hoekman, J. (2022). Key Considerations in the Health Technology Assessment of Advanced Therapy Medicinal Products in Scotland, The Netherlands, and England. Value in health : the journal of the International Society for Pharmacoeconomics and Outcomes Research, 25(3), 390–399.
- 54. NICE. NICE real-world evidence framework. [Online] Available at: https://www.nice.org.uk/corporate/ecd9/chapter/overview. Accessed in March 2024
- CADTH. (2023). Guidance for Reporting Real-Wolrd Evidence. CADTH Methods and Guidelines. Available at: https://www.cadth.ca/sites/default/files/RWE/ MG0020/MG0020-RWE-Guidance-Report-Secured.pdf
- 56. Qiu, T., Pochopien, M., Liang, S., Saal, G., Paterak, E., Janik, J., & Toumi, M. (2022). Gene Therapy Evidence Generation and Economic Analysis: Pragmatic Considerations to Facilitate Fit-for-Purpose Health Technology Assessment. Frontiers in public health, 10, 773629.
- 57. Wang, Y., Qiu, T., Zhou, J., Francois, C., & Toumi, M. (2021). Which Criteria are Considered and How are They Evaluated in Health Technology Assessments? A Review of Methodological Guidelines Used in Western and Asian Countries. Applied health economics and health policy, 19(3), 281–304.
- 58. NICE. NICE health technology evaluations: the manual. [Online] Available at: https://www.nice.org.uk/process/pmg36/chapter/committee-recommendations. Accessed in March 2024
- 59. Reed, S. D., Dubois, R. W., Johnson, F. R., Caro, J. J., & Phelps, C. E. (2019). Novel Approaches to Value Assessment Beyond the Cost-Effectiveness Framework. Value in health : the journal of the International Society for Pharmacoeconomics and Outcomes Research, 22(6S), S18–S23.
- 60. Nicod, E., Annemans, L., Bucsics, A., Lee, A., Upadhyaya, S., & Facey, K. (2019). HTA programme response to the challenges of dealing with orphan medicinal products: Process evaluation in selected European countries. Health policy (Amsterdam, Netherlands), 123(2), 140–151. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. healthpol.2017.03.009
- 61. Charlton V. Does NICE apply the rule of rescue in its approach to highly specialised technologies?. Journal of medical ethics. 2022 Feb 1;48(2):118-25.
- Jommi, C., & Galeone, C. (2023). The Evaluation of Drug Innovativeness in Italy: Key Determinants and Internal Consistency. PharmacoEconomics open, 7(3), 373–381.
- 63. CADTH. CADTH Review Process for Cell and Gene Therapies. Available at: https://www.cadth.ca/sites/default/files/cdr/process/CADTH_Gene_Process.pdf
- 64. Globalforum. Pathway to Patient Access to CAR-T Therapies in Canada. [Online] Available at: https://globalforum.diaglobal.org/issue/october-2020/pathway-topatient-access-to-car-t-therapies-in-canada/. Accessed in March 2024
- 65. HAS. (2023). Doctrine de la commission de la transparence (CT): Principes d'évaluation de la CT relatifs aux médicaments en vue de leur accès au remboursement. Available at: https://www.has-sante.fr/upload/docs/application/pdf/2021-03/doctrine_ct.pdf
- 66. Vanier, A., Fernandez, J., Kelley, S., Alter, L., Semenzato, P., Alberti, C., ... & Le Guludec, D. (2024). Rapid access to innovative medicinal products while ensuring relevant health technology assessment. Position of the French National Authority for Health. BMJ Evidence-Based Medicine, 29(1), 1-5.
- 67. Pennington, B., Eaton, J., Hatswell, A. J., & Taylor, H. (2022). Carers' health-related quality of life in global health technology assessment: guidance, case studies and recommendations. Pharmacoeconomics, 40(9), 837-850.
- Huygens, S. A., Versteegh, M. M., Vegter, S., Schouten, L. J., & Kanters, T. A. (2021). Methodological Challenges in the Economic Evaluation of a Gene Therapy for RPE65-Mediated Inherited Retinal Disease: The Value of Vision. PharmacoEconomics, 39(4), 383–397.
- 69. Zorginstituut Nederland (2024) Guideline for economic evaluations in healthcare[Online] Available at: https://english.zorginstituutnederland.nl/binaries/zinl-eng/ documenten/reports/2024/01/16/guideline-for-economic-evaluations-in-healthcare/Guideline+for+economic+evaluations+in+healthcare.pdf
- TLV. (2022). Calculation and payment: Continued study on evaluation methods and payment models for new medicines, such as ATMPs, and precision medicine. Accessed at: https://www.tlv.se/download/18.1bcd3064185e4fc5ec93aa9f/1674805122479/rep220401_calculation_and_payment.pdf
- Rodriguez Llorian, E., Zhang, W., Khakban, A., Patten, S., Traboulsee, A., Oh, J., Kolind, S., Prat, A., Tam, R., & Lynd, L. D. (2022). Productivity loss among people with early multiple sclerosis: A Canadian study. Multiple sclerosis (Houndmills, Basingstoke, England), 28(9), 1414–1423.
- Hageman, I. C., van Rooij, I. A. L. M., de Blaauw, I., Trajanovska, M., & King, S. K. (2023). A systematic overview of rare disease patient registries: challenges in design, quality management, and maintenance. Orphanet journal of rare diseases, 18(1), 106.
- Terry, S. F., & Terry, P. F. (2011). Power to the people: participant ownership of clinical trial data. Science translational medicine, 3(69), 69cm3. https://doi. org/10.1126/scitranslmed.3001857
- 74. Hay, C. R. M., Shima, M., Makris, M., Jiménez-Yuste, V., Oldenburg, J., Fischer, K., Iorio, A., Skinner, M. W., Santagostino, E., von Mackensen, S., & Kessler, C. M. (2020). Challenges and key lessons at the design and implementation of an international haemophilia registry supported by a pharmaceutical company. Haemophilia : the official journal of the World Federation of Hemophilia, 26(6), 966–974.
- 75. Duchenne UK. Project Hercules. [Online] Available at: https://www.duchenneuk.org/project-hercules/. Accessed in March 2024